Agenda - Children, Young People and Education

Committee

Meeting Venue:

Committee Room 4 - Ty Hywel
Meeting date: 24 January 2018
Meeting time: 09.15

For further information contact:
Llinos Madeley

Committee Clerk

0300 200 6565
SeneddCYPE@assembly.wales

Private Pre-meeting
(09:15 - 09:30)

1 Introductions, apologies, substitutions and declarations of

interest
(09:15 - 09:30)

2 Inquiry into the Emotional and Mental Health of Children and

Young People - Evidence session 16

(09:30 - 10:00)

(Pages 1 - 12)

National Youth Advocacy Services Cymru

Sharon Lovell, Director

Gareth Jacobs, Operational Manger - Mental Health and Advocacy Provision

Derith Rhisiart, Service Manager - Advocacy in Mental Health Settings

Attached Documents:

Research Brief

CYPE(5)-03-18 - Paper 1 - National Youth Advocacy Service Cymru

,Ff Cynulliad National
/’ Cenedlaethol Assembly for

Cymru Wales



3.1

3.2

3.3

Paper(s) to note

Letter to the Chair from Action for Children - Additional information
following the meeting on 14 December
(Pages 13 - 14)

Attached Documents:
CYPE(5)-03-18 - Paper to note 1

Further information from the Samaritans following the meeting on 10 January
(Pages 15 - 24)

Attached Documents:
CYPE(5)-03-18 - Paper to note 2 - Report 1
CYPE(5)-03-18 - Paper to note 3 - Report 2

Letter to the Minister for Welsh Language and Lifelong Learning - Youth Work

follow up
(Pages 25 - 31)

Attached Documents:

CYPE(5)-03-18 - Paper to note 4

Informal Roundtable Event: Inquiry into the Emotional and Mental Health of

Children and Young People (invitees only)

Committee Room 5
10:00 - 12:00

The Committee will be meeting with frontline education staff to discuss the

emotional and mental health support available for children and young people in

schools in Wales. This roundtable event is not open to the public.



By virtue of paragraph(s) vi of Standing Order 17.42 Ag e n d a I te m 2

Document is Restricted

Pack Page 1



CYPE(5)-03-18 - Paper 1

Cynulliad Cenedlaethol Cymru | National Assembly for Wales

Y Pwyllgor Plant, Pobl Ifanc ac Addysg | Children, Young People and
Education Committee

Ymchwiliad i Gwella lechyd Emosiynol ac lechyd Meddwl! Plant a Phobl Ifanc |
Inquiry into The Emotional and Mental Health of Children and Young People
EMH 35

Ymateb gan: Gwasanaeth Eiriolaeth leuenctid Cenedlaethol

Response from: National Youth Advocacy Service

NYAS welcomes the opportunity to respond to the inquiry consultation.

NYAS is the commissioned children and young people’s independent
advocacy and Independent Visitor services to over 63 LA’s across England
and Wales. We provide service to children, young people and adults in formal
and informal patients in mental health setting across England and Wales.

We are a specialist Independent Mental Health Advocate (IMHA) provider of
Independent advocacy services to young people detained in secure settings
and hospitals.

Based on our current advocacy case work and consultation with young

people, NYAS would like to propose the following recommendations for
consideration:

Specialist CAMHS

1. The extent to which new (and/or reconfigured) services are helping
to reduce waiting times in specialist CAMHS. Whether the
improvements in waiting times Welsh Government expected from
CAMHS have been met.

It is not clear from the data whether the reconfiguration of services are
having a sustained impact on waiting times; whether children and young
people are getting the services they need when they need them. Young
people through our advocacy case work inform NYAS they are still waiting
too long for therapies.

2. What the data tells us about the variations in practice (equity of
access) across Wales.

The data presents a picture of work undertaken and the investment in
specialist staff. However what we see across Wales is variations in practice in
relation to:

Pack Page 8



e The promotion of social inclusion and how stigma is being tackled
through awareness, prevention, signposting and advice. Children and
young people with complex needs need to have their rights and
entitlements explained to them in a format they understand. The
principles and values of participation needs embedding within
practice. This will mean changing the barriers and cultures across
agencies. Independent Mental Health Advocacy Services (IMHA) needs
greater investment. Not all LHB are commissioning IMHA for all age
groups. This means not all children and young people are getting an
active offer of IMHA service. Children and young people receiving any
tier of mental health support services should have access to a generic
independent advocacy services.

e Provision of information, advice and assistance; Families don’t always
understand diagnoses and their role in care and treatment planning.
Further planning/training could be achieved around this. Primary and
secondary care staff should undertake training in working and
communicating with young people. Youth services and specialist youth
workers could be integrated within health and social care services.

e The mechanisms for ensuring that children and young people who are
assessed as having disorders are offered further assessment and
intervention by services that can, together or separately meet their
needs; This is confusing for young people and their families as they
are not always clear on the what tier of service is being provided and
the agencies/individuals putting this in place. Therefore, more could
be done to make care and treatment plans simple and easy for both
parents and children to understand. Also these plans need to be
transportable to ensure ‘stories are not retold; and there is a seamless
provision/transfer of services and staff.

3. The extent to which changes have addressed the over-referral of
children and young people to CAMHS.

Greater publicity and awareness of the tiers of services is filtering through
health and social care sectors. Professionals are better aware of the
thresholds. However, improved public awareness of CAMHS services and
what can be offered needs improving. For example, clear free information for
parents, young people and families about CAMHS and the support it offers.
Importantly, young people waiting too long for primary care services should
have access to specialist mental health advocates so their experiences of
care and treatment, their views, wishes and feelings are take into account
and our part of decision-making processes.

Pack Page 9 nyas.*



4. Referrals and access to CAMHS by individual Health Board, including
the restrictions and thresholds imposed by CAMHS

The changes reflect an improved specialist CAMHS’ service with ability to
respond to out of hours and at times of crisis; whether out of hours care is
working effectively, and is specifically looking at the needs of those children
and young people who present and are assessed at hospital A&E
departments would need greater independent scrutiny. However, within the
triage model for assessing crisis care we should be actively engaging with
the views of the patient, especially children and young people. In terms of
reducing police involvement in s136 having advocacy and specialist youth
workers as part of a crisis team could help reduce police time, enable crisis
to be managed at home, work restoratively, to uphold rights and liberty.
Young care experienced people often require specialist advocacy
intervention to protect their rights and entitlements from their LAC status.

5. The extent to which access to psychological therapies for young
people has improved. Whether there has been a subsequent
reduction in the use of medication for young people.

See response at 1. Importantly, the NHS and Social care should build
effective relationships within the voluntary sector; instead of LA’s and LHBs
running direct services. More could be achieved to harness the expertise we
already have within the charitable and voluntary sectors, especially in
delivering psycho- social education programmes which are underpinned by a
cognitive behaviour approach.

The investment in psycho-social interventions should not just be left to
education and schools. The local and national voluntary youth sectors also
have a role to play in developing preventative mental health services and
building resilience and emotional wellbeing.

The demise of the youth service in Wales has not helped. However, this is a
prime opportunity for Welsh Government to promote and invest in youth
services to promote wellbeing and for youth services to provide that all
important out of hours support.

The commissioning of psychological therapies should be considered within a
national framework approach to ensure consistency of provision across
Wales. Professionals providing these therapies should be registered with a
regulatory body and have an up-to-date Continual Professional, Education
and Learning and are able to provided evidence of this. Would be helpful to
know the view of HIW, CSSIW and Social Care Wales on maintaining standards
and codes of professional practice in regards to these types of therapies and
how they are audited and inspected.

Pack Page 10 nyas.*



6. The extent to which the funding has been used to meet the needs of
vulnerable children and young people, for example, children who are
in care, children and young people with ADHD and autistic spectrum
disorders, and those who are already in or at risk of entering the
youth justice system, including those who are detained under
section 136 of the Mental Health Act 1983.

See 1. Despite an increase and welcome focus on improving outcomes for
children and young people’s mental health there remains a number of
system-wide challenges. These include evaluating whether the increase
public funds is making the impact which the data refers to.

The transition from CAMHS to adult mental health services especially for
children placed in psychiatric/secure settings is improving but more could
be achieved. The knock on effect of a delayed discharge because CAMHS and
CMHTSs have not prepared in time is detrimental to the process of recovery
and the young person’s reintegration to their community.

Although we have seen some improvements in integration between services
and prevention, the barriers represent considerable challenges for the
mental health sector. Improving the care delivered to children and young
people will require more financial resources to sustain and safeguard their
wellbeing across Wales. However, NYAS is still unclear on the points provided
below.

1. The funding of £2.7m which was agreed to see the recruitment of over
40 wte specialist staff and associated administrative support. Did this
make an impact on meeting the needs of young people? If so, how?

2. How many urgent referrals were dealt with (within 48 hours) across
Wales per LHB area and how does this compare with other parts of the
country?

3. Routine assessments were reduced to 28 days to easy waiting times.
What has been achieved since the last update? What does this data
look like across Wales broken down per LHB area?

4. As part of the introduction of the 28 day target and the additional
investment in new neurodevelopmental services health boards were
asked to stratify waiting lists. Has this happened and what were the
results? Did this have any impact on reducing waiting lists? Which LHB
areas have waiting lists and for what types of services are children and
young people waiting for?

5. The number of existing placements outside NHS Wales at April 2015
was 20 As of January 2016 there were only 11. We have not identified
a figure for 2017? Do previous and current figures include children
placed in commercial and private mental health settings?

6. In order to better support children and young people during their
treatment and to enable better planning for discharge from hospital

Pack Page 11 nyas.*



WG provided £56,000 to fund a dedicated social work post within the
south Wales inpatient unit. What outcomes have been achieved? How

many cases were referred and from which South Wales areas does this
post cover?

. Improving access to talking therapies as an alternative to medication is
a key component of the additional CAMHS investment. Following WG
approval of health board proposals £1.042m annual funding was
agreed, creating 18.8 wte specialist posts. What impact has this made
in improving access? How many referrals were achieved? Why do we
still have waiting lists?

. Specific support for neurodevelopmental conditions saw an additional
£2m funding available to Health boards to plan and deliver or to
provide a bespoke service or increase capacity in existing services to
ensure children and young people receive tailored support. Where are
these bespoke services? How many children and young people are
receiving tailored support? What was the breakdown of funding and
where has this been spent? What areas saw the greatest impact with
these additional monies?

Pack Page 12 nyas.*



CYPE(5)-03-18 - Paper to note 1
HOW i

ACTIYAHOR CHiDF

SUT MAE ,
GWEITHREDU DROS BLANT

| | YN GwEITHIO
15t January 2018

4 Llys Dewi Sant/ St David’s Court
Mrs Lynne NeagIe 68a Heol y'Bontfaen / 68a
Chair of the Children, Young People and Education Committee CO%Zngfdzc}ag;jﬁi
National Assembly for Wales, CF11 9DN
Cardiff Bay, .
Cardiff Ffon / Telephone 029 2022 2127
CE99 1NA Ffacs / Fax: 02920 229952

L actionforchildren.org.uk J

Dear Mrs Neagle,

| would like to thank you for giving Action for Children the opportunity to provide
oral evidence to the Children, Young People and Education Committee’s inquiry
into the mental health and emotional wellbeing of children and young people. |
am writing to clarify an issue that was raised during the oral evidence session held
on 14th December 2017. In the letter that follows, | refer to points made during
the meeting with reference to the numbered paragraphs specified in the
Committee’s draft transcript.

In paragraph 412, you asked for observations on the delays between a CAMHS
assessment and the treatment subsequently offered to children and young
people. Action for Children conducted a small survey to support our written
response to this inquiry, based on the experiences of eighteen children and young
people. Only five were offered treatment following a CAMHS assessment. Of the
two that waited more than eight weeks for treatment to begin, both respondents
felt the wait was ‘too long’. They claimed their mental health worsened during this
period. For example, one respondent stated that the lengthy wait intensified
anxiety and self-harming behaviours.

In paragraph 414, Action for Children’s Services Manager Sandra White stated
that the waiting time for a CAMHS assessment is 26 weeks, and in paragraph
420, Action for Children was asked to give evidence to support this statement.
Firstly, Action for Children would like to clarify that Sandra was referring to the
maximum waiting time for referral to treatment. Secondly, we'd like to clarify that
this comment specifically referred to the cases of children and young people with
specialised neurological disorders. This information was reported in discussions
with the service managers and practitioners working under the Health Boards
listed in Action for Children’s written statement. We hope that this clarifies the
matter for the Committee.

Noddwr: Ei Huchelder Brenhinol Duges Caergrawnt. Sefydiwyd Gweithredu dros Blant-Action for Children (NCH gynt) ym 1869. Swyddfa Gofrestredig:
3 The Boulevard, Ascot Road, Watford WD18 8AG. Ffon: 01923 361 500. Rhifau cofrestru’r elusen1097940/SC038092. Rhif cwmni 4764232,
Cwmni cyfyngedig wedi'i gofrestru yng Nghymru a Lloegr.

Patron: HRH The Duchess of Cambridge.

Action for Children, previously NCH, was founded in 1869.
Registered Office: 3 The Boulevard, Ascot Road, Watford WD18 BAG. Paﬁk.\Pﬂ_gg ;l’% LU o
Telephone: 01923 361 500. Registered charity nos. 1097940/SC038092. \ M I STC ‘Hx / Vw‘
Company no. 4764232, Limited company registered in England and Wales. Ny ¥ IN PEOPLE b ‘J’iag\.’s

o

¥057,




In relation to the request for quantitative evidence, I'm afraid that it's not possible for us to
gather quantitative evidence of the mental health experiences of all the young people and
children we engage with at this time. Action for Children works with over 22,000 children,
young people and families in Wales each year. Gathering these statistics would be a hugely
complex task and would not be achievable in the timeframe given to respond to a
consultation. However, we would be keen to show the Committee some of the work that
Action for Children in undertaking to alleviate the mental health symptoms of the children
and young people we support. By equipping young people with coping strategies, our aim is
to reduce the likelihood that young people will experience mental health issues and in turn,
we hope to reduce demand for CAMHS services.

We would like to invite Committee members to visit Action for Children’s Blues programme;
an evidence-based intervention delivered to 15-18 year olds in the school setting, with the
aim of reducing the likelihood that children and young people will experience mental health
issues. Through our corporate partnership with the Royal Mail, this programme is currently
engaged with all secondary schools in Cardiff, along with some colleges and alternative
education providers. Seven of these schools will deliver this programme over the next term
and we've begun a recruitment drive to deliver in North Wales. All young people complete a
questionnaire and the outcome score identifies whether the student would benefit from the
therapeutic intervention offered by the Blues programme to support their mental health. This
programme has evidenced positive outcomes on young people’s depression scores in the
United States, with a reduction of 48-83% after a six-month follow-up.

Action for Children would like to see a system for mental health support in Wales that offers
children and young people support much sooner, with access to a wider variety of services.
The Blues programme can only be a positive approach towards increasing children’s’
understanding and ability to deal with their own mental health. By equipping young people
with coping strategies, our aim is to reduce the likelihood that young people will experience
mental health issues and in turn, we hope to reduce demand for CAMHS services and
alleviate the pressure they face.

We'd be delighted to show the Committee the work that we do to prevent mental health
issues and look forward to hearing your response.

Kind regards,
: \ ”
W\‘ V L

Brigitte Gater
National Director Wales

\ J

Noddwr: Ei Huchelder Brenhinol Duges Caergrawnt. Sefydlwyd Gweithredu dros Blant-Action for Children (NCH gynt) ym 18469. Swyddfa Gofrestredig: 3 The Boulevard, Ascot Road,
Watford WD18 8AG. Ffon: 01923 361 500. Rhifau cofrestru’r elusen 1097940/5C038092. Rhif cwmni 4764232, Cwmni cyfyngedig wedi'i gofrestru yng Nghymru a Lloegr.

Patron: HRH The Duchess of Cambridge. Action for Children, previously NCH. was founded in 1869.

Registered Office: 3 The Boulevard, Ascot Road, Watford WO18 BAG. Tmopackr?@agf@ 14 ¢ N INVESTORS 85
Registered charity nos. 1097940/SC038092. Company no. 4764232 \\5 \\; ),4.) TR *;!\‘H/ -?-M‘ 1
Limited company registered in England and Wales, ““.5,4." IN I LOPLE | s



CYPE(5)-03-18 - Paper to note 2

Articles

Agenda Iltem 3.2

@

CrossMark

Lancet 2015; 385: 1536-44

Published Online

January 9, 2015
http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/
50140-6736(14)61213-7

See Comment page 1489

National Centre for Suicide
Research and Prevention of
Mental lll-Health (NASP),
Karolinska Institutet,
Stockholm, Sweden

(Prof D Wasserman MD,

G Hadlaczky PhD, | Kelleher MD,
V Carli MD); Division of Child
and Adolescent Psychiatry
(CW Hoven DrPH,

CWasserman MA,

R Eisenberg MSc, G ) Musa PhD)
and Department of Psychiatry
(CW Hoven, M Wall PhD),

New York State Psychiatric
Institute, Columbia University,
New York, NY, USA; Department
of Epidemiology (CW Hoven)
and Department of Biostatistics
(M Wall), Mailman School of
Public Health, Columbia
University, New York, NY, USA;
Department of Medicine and
Health Science, University of
Molise, Campobasso, Italy
(CWasserman,

M Sarchiapone MD, M losue MA);
National Institute for Health,
Migration and Poverty, Rome,
Italy (M Sarchiapone); Feinberg
Child Study Centre, Schneider
Children’s Medical Centre, Tel
Aviv University, Tel Aviv, Israel
(A Apter MD); Vadaskert Child
and Adolescent Psychiatric
Hospital, Budapest, Hungary

(J Balazs MD); Institute of
Psychology, Eotvos Lorand
University, Budapest, Hungary
() Balazs); Department of
Psychiatry, Centro de
Investigacién Biomédica en Red
de Salud Mental, University of
Oviedo, Oviedo, Spain

() Bobes MD, P Saiz MD); Section
for Disorders of Personality
Development, Clinic of Child
and Adolescent Psychiatry,
Centre of Psychosocial
Medicine, University of
Heidelberg, Heidelberg,

1536

School-based suicide prevention programmes: the SEYLE
cluster-randomised, controlled trial

Danuta Wasserman, Christina W Hoven, Camilla Wasserman, Melanie Wall, Ruth Eisenberg, Gergo Hadlaczky, lan Kelleher, Marco Sarchiapone,
Alan Apter, Judit Balazs, Julio Bobes, Romuald Brunner, Paul Corcoran, Doina Cosman, Francis Guillemin, Christian Haring, Miriam losue,
Michael Kaess, Jean-Pierre Kahn, Helen Keeley, George | Musa, Bogdan Nemes, Vita Postuvan, Pilar Saiz, Stella Reiter-Theil, Airi Varnik,

Peeter Varnik, Vladimir Carli

Summary

Background Suicidal behaviours in adolescents are a major public health problem and evidence-based prevention
programmes are greatly needed. We aimed to investigate the efficacy of school-based preventive interventions of
suicidal behaviours.

Methods The Saving and Empowering Young Lives in Europe (SEYLE) study is a multicentre, cluster-randomised
controlled trial. The SEYLE sample consisted of 11110 adolescent pupils, median age 15 years (IQR 14-15), recruited
from 168 schools in ten European Union countries. We randomly assigned the schools to one of three interventions
or a control group. The interventions were: (1) Question, Persuade, and Refer (QPR), a gatekeeper training module
targeting teachers and other school personnel, (2) the Youth Aware of Mental Health Programme (YAM) targeting
pupils, and (3) screening by professionals (ProfScreen) with referral of at-risk pupils. Each school was randomly
assigned by random number generator to participate in one intervention (or control) group only and was unaware of
the interventions undertaken in the other three trial groups. The primary outcome measure was the number of
suicide attempt(s) made by 3 month and 12 month follow-up. Analysis included all pupils with data available at each
timepoint, excluding those who had ever attempted suicide or who had shown severe suicidal ideation during the
2 weeks before baseline. This study is registered with the German Clinical Trials Registry, number DRKS00000214.

Findings Between Nov 1, 2009, and Dec 14, 2010, 168 schools (11110 pupils) were randomly assigned to interventions
(40 schools [2692 pupils] to QPR, 45 [2721] YAM, 43 [2764] ProfScreen, and 40 [2933] control). No significant
differences between intervention groups and the control group were recorded at the 3 month follow-up. At the
12 month follow-up, YAM was associated with a significant reduction of incident suicide attempts (odds ratios [OR]
0-45, 95% CI 0-24-0-85; p=0-014) and severe suicidal ideation (0-50, 0-27-0-92; p=0-025), compared with the
control group. 14 pupils (0-70%) reported incident suicide attempts at the 12 month follow-up in the YAM versus
34 (1-51%) in the control group, and 15 pupils (0-75%) reported incident severe suicidal ideation in the YAM group
versus 31 (1-37%) in the control group. No participants completed suicide during the study period.

Interpretation YAM was effective in reducing the number of suicide attempts and severe suicidal ideation in school-
based adolescents. These findings underline the benefit of this universal suicide preventive intervention in schools.

Funding Coordination Theme 1 (Health) of the European Union Seventh Framework Programme.

Introduction

Worldwide, suicide is one of the three leading causes of
death in young people.”” Globally, in 2009, suicide
accounted for 7-3% of all deaths in the age group
15-19 years, after road traffic accidents (11-6%), and
preceding violence (6-2%), respiratory tract infections
(5-4%), tuberculosis (4-8%), and HIV (2-3%).* According
to the latest data from WHO, figures are similar in 2014.
The lifetime prevalence of suicide attempts in adolescents
in the USA is 4-1%.° In Europe, the lifetime self-reported
prevalence for similar age groups is 4-2%.

Suicide attempts and severe suicidal ideation have
potentially serious consequences, including substantial
psychological effects, increased risk of subsequent
suicide attempt, and death.* Importantly, suicidal
behaviour also has profound negative effects on relatives
and other people in the person’s life.’_The mﬁical,

ack Pag

P

financial, and emotional costs to communities affected
by suicide are also substantial.® Consequently, the
prevention of suicidal behaviour should be a national
health priority, with the development of existing"" and
new evidence-based, suicide preventive interventions.
Research lends support to the theory that the vast
proportion of psychopathological changes has its onset
in childhood and adolescence,” and therefore young
people are an especially important target. Most
children and adolescents attend school, which makes
these an appropriate setting for reaching young people.”
The authors of two systematic reviews of school-based
suicide preventive interventions™” concluded that
assessments of school-based intervention programmes
tested in randomised controlled trials are needed. The
theoretical framework of suicide prevention programmes
gfgerally acknowledges universal, selective, or indicated

www.thelancet.com Vol 385 April 18, 2015


http://crossmark.crossref.org/dialog/?doi=10.1016/S0140-6736(14)61213-7&domain=pdf

Articles

approaches.®? School-based universal programmes
include all pupils, whereas selective and indicated efforts
focus on those regarded at high risk or presenting
suicidal behaviour. The few randomised trials based on a
universal or a selective approach have focused almost
exclusively on generating change in knowledge and
attitudes.” Very few trials, all from the USA and none
from Europe, have investigated changes in the reduction
of severe suicidal ideation or suicide attempts.** In this
Article, we report the results of the Saving and
Empowering Young Lives in Europe (SEYLE) study, the
first large-scale, multicountry, European randomised
controlled trial of school-based prevention of suicidal
behaviour in adolescents.” The main hypothesis is that
preventive interventions are more effective than a
control condition in reducing new cases of suicide
attempt and severe suicidal ideation between baseline
and follow-up assessments.

Methods

Trial design and participants

SEYLE was a multicentre, cluster-randomised trial
designed to investigate the efficacy of school-based
preventive interventions for suicidal behaviour. Pupils
were recruited from 168 schools in ten European Union
countries (Austria, Estonia, France, Germany, Hungary,
Ireland, Italy, Romania, Slovenia, and Spain). Schools
were deemed eligible if they were public, contained at
least 40 pupils aged 15 years, had more than two teachers
for pupils aged 15 years, and had no more than 60% of
pupils of the same sex.” Within each country, the cluster
design first led to randomisation of eligible schools to
one of four trial groups. Within the schools, all classes
with pupils aged mainly 15 years were approached for
participant recruitment. To avoid discrimination, all
pupils in the participating classrooms, including those
aged 14 and 16 years, were also approached for
recruitment.

Study site characteristics are described in the
appendix. We assessed all behaviours at an individual
level with a structured self-report questionnaire
administered in one classroom session at baseline,
3 months, and 12 months. All pupils who reported
suicide attempts ever, or severe suicidal ideation in the
past 2 weeks before the baseline assessment, and those
with missing data regarding these two variables were
not included in the final analysis. Pupils with incident
(new) suicide attempt(s) or severe suicidal ideation at
3 months and 12 months follow-up were identified to
investigate the preventive effects of the interventions. A
procedures manual covering all aspects of SEYLE was
available to each site. Local teams were trained in the
study methods before their implementation and a
steering group monitored adherence to the procedures
during the entire study period. Pupils in each group
completed the same questionnaire, which assessed risk

thoughts, plans, and suicide attempts, at baseline
(before any intervention) and at a 3 month and
12 month follow-up. Ethics approval was obtained from
each of the local research ethics committees. We
obtained informed assent from each participant and
written consent from at least one parent, which was a
prerequisite for participation. SEYLE prescribed a
specific procedure to assess and immediately assist
every emergency case at each site. Emergency cases
were pupils who reported either suicide attempts or
severe suicidal ideation in the 2 weeks before baseline
assessment. These pupils were immediately contacted
for clinical assessment and referred to health-care
services for treatment, if necessary. All referrals were
done before implementation of the interventions. To
avoid any stigma, all such emergency cases were
allowed to continue in the study, but their results were
excluded from the final analysis. SEYLE used an
independent ethics adviser from Basel University,
Basel, Switzerland.

Randomisation and masking

A list of all schools that met the study inclusion or
exclusion criteria was generated at each site. Schools
were then stratified into large (more than the site
median) and small groups, to create a pool of potential
participants that was homogeneous with respect to
sociocultural factors, school environment, and school
system structure. A random number generator was used
to place schools at each site, first into one of the four trial
groups, then schools within each group were placed in a
random order within each of the two school size
classifications (large or small). We identified schools
(one large for every two small) for invitation into the
SEYLE project according to a predefined order
established by the randomised list. In the event that a
selected school did not choose to participate or the trial
group’s target was not met, we approached the next
same-size school from the randomised list. Each school
was randomly assigned to participate in one intervention
(or control) group only and was unaware of the
interventions undertaken in the other three trial groups.
During school recruitment, the same general
information that SEYLE is a mental health promotion
project was presented to all schools. We also presented a
general, non-specific overview about the procedures of
the intervention to which a particular school was
randomly assigned, but did not disclose that alternative
interventions were part of the project. On the basis of
the information provided, each school could accept or
refuse to join the study. Overall, 168 schools (72%) of
232 schools approached agreed to participate and no
school dropped out of the study during the 12 month
trial.  All  SEYLE randomisation  procedures
were developed by researchers from Columbia
University (New York, NY, USA) and each site leader was

behaviours, symptoms of psychopathology and suicli.slal responsible for implementing the plan.
ack Page‘16

www.thelancet.com Vol 385 April 18, 2015

Germany (R Brunner MD,

M Kaess MD); National Suicide
Research Foundation,
Cork,Ireland (P Corcoran PhD,

H Keeley MD); Clinical
Psychology Department, luliu
Hatieganu University of
Medicine and Pharmacy,
Cluj-Napoca, Romania

(D Cosman MD, B Nemes MD);
Inserm CIC-EC (F Guillemin MD)
and Department of Psychiatry
(J-P Kahn MD), Nancy University
Hospital, Nancy, France;
Institute for Clinical Evaluation,
Department for Psychiatry and
Psychotherapy B, State
Hospital Hall, Tyrol, Austria
(CHaring MD); Slovene Center
for Suicide Research, Andrej
Marusic Institute, University of
Primorska, Koper, Slovenia

(V Postuvan PhD); Department
of Clinical Ethics, Psychiatric
Hospitals of the University of
Basel, University Hospital Basel,
Basel, Switzerland

(S Reiter-Theil PhD); Estonian-
Swedish Mental Health and
Suicidology Institute, Tallinn,
Estonia (Airi Varnik MD,

Peeter Varnik MSc); and Tallinn
University, Tallinn, Estonia

(Airi Varnik, Peeter Varnik)

Correspondence to:

Prof Danuta Wasserman,
National Centre for Suicide
Research and Prevention of
Mental Ill-Health (NASP),
Karolinska Institute, Stockholm
17177, Sweden.
danuta.wasserman@ki.se

See Online for appendix

1537



Articles

Procedures

Three intervention programmes were compared with
a control group. All interventions were undertaken
during a 4 week period, after a baseline assessment.

Question, Persuade, and Refer (QPR) is a manualised
gatekeeper programme, developed in the USA.* In
SEYLE, QPR was used to train teachers and other
school personnel to recognise the risk of suicidal
behaviour in pupils and to enhance their com-
munication skills to motivate and help pupils at risk of
suicide to seek professional care. QPR training
materials included standard power point presentations
and a 34-page booklet distributed to all trainees.
Teachers were also given cards with local health-care
contact information for distribution to pupils identified
by them as being at risk. Although QPR targeted all
school staff, it was, in effect, a selective approach,
because only pupils recognised as being at suicidal risk
were approached by the gatekeepers (trained school
personnel).

The Youth Aware of Mental Health Programme (YAM)
was developed for the SEYLE study® and is a manualised,
universal intervention targeting all pupils, which
includes 3 h of role-play sessions with interactive
workshops combined with a 32-page booklet that pupils
could take home, six educational posters displayed in
each participating classroom and two 1 h interactive
lectures about mental health at the beginning and end
of the intervention. YAM aimed to raise mental health
awareness about risk and protective factors associated
with suicide, including knowledge about depression
and anxiety, and to enhance the skills needed to deal
with adverse life events, stress, and suicidal behaviours.
This programme was implemented at each site by
instructors trained in the methodology through a
detailed 31 page instruction manual.

Question, Youth aware of Screening by Controls
persuade, and mental health professionals (40 schools,
refer programme (43 schools, 2933 pupils)
(40 schools, (45 schools, 2764 pupils)
2692 pupils) 2721 pupils)
Age (years) 14-80 (0-82) 14-80 (0-85) 14-81(0-80) 1478 (0-89)
SDQ total score 10-47 (4-96) 10-83 (4-96) 1070 (5-11) 10-14 (4-95)
Number of girls 1675 (63%) 1637 (60%) 1607 (58%) 1647 (56%)
Not living with both 592 (22%) 601 (22%) 605 (22%) 626 (21%)
biological parents
Not born in the country 158 (6%) 205 (8%) 142 (5%) 158 (5%)
of residence
Parent lost employment 273 (10%) 257 (10%) 247 (9%) 292 (10%)
in previous year
Ever attempted suicide 83 (3%) 115 (4%) 102 (4%) 86 (3%)
Severe suicidal ideation 99 (4%) 106 (4%) 96 (4%) 103 (4%)
during past 2 weeks
Data are mean (SD) or n (%). SDQ=Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire. Counts of suicide attempts and suicide
ideation might overlap.
Table 1: Baseline characteristics

1538

Pack Page T7

The Screening by Professionals programme
(ProfScreen), which was also developed for the SEYLE
study, is a selective or indicated intervention based on
responses to the SEYLE baseline questionnaire. When
pupils had completed the baseline assessment, health
professionals reviewed their answers and pupils who
screened at or above pre-established cutoff points were
invited to participate in a professional mental health
clinical assessment and subsequently referred to clinical
services, if needed.*

For ethical reasons, the control group was exposed to
the same six educational posters displayed in their
classrooms as those used in the YAM. Pupils in the
control group who selfrecognised the need for help
could contact local health-care providers whose
information was provided on a poster.

Process assessments and quality control were done in a
standard manner at each site through a series of
structured questionnaires to ensure that all preparatory
procedures were executed correctly and that interventions
were implemented in a standard way across sites and
adhered to the SEYLE protocol. Analyses of these data
suggest congruence between sites in both study imple-
mentation procedures and in undertaking of the
interventions (data not shown).

Outcomes

The primary outcome was incident suicide attempt(s)—
ie, all new cases of suicide attempt(s) identified at either
the 3 month or 12 month follow-up. Another outcome
was severe suicidal ideation in the 2 weeks preceding
the follow-ups—ie, all new cases of suicidal ideation
identified at either of the two follow-ups. All pupils
reporting ever making a suicide attempt before the
baseline date or having severe suicidal ideation in the
2 weeks before baseline were excluded from the
analyses. Pupils were identified as having an incident
suicide attempt if, at the 3 month and 12 month
follow-up, they answered “yes” to the question: “have
you ever made an attempt to take your own life?” Pupils
were identified as having severe suicidal ideation, if
they answered: “sometimes, often, very often or always”
to the question: “during the past 2 weeks, have you
reached the point where you seriously considered
taking your life, or perhaps made plans how you would
go about doing it?”

Suicide attempts and severe suicidal ideation were
studied with the above mentioned questions from the
five item Paykel Hierarchical Suicidal Ladder” that
measures the intensity of suicidal behaviour, from
feelings that life is not worth living, to death wishes,
suicidal thoughts, severe suicidal ideation with plans,
and suicide attempts.

Symptoms of psychopathology, assessed with the
Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire (SDQ),”* and
the sociodemographic variables presented in table 1 were
as covariates in all analyses.

www.thelancet.com Vol 385 April 18, 2015



Articles

232 schools (27099 pupils) randomised
to one of the four study groups
and consecutively approached

v

168 schools (11110 pupils) randomly
assigned to interventions according
to the randomised list

64 schools declined to participate
15989 pupils excluded
14267 no parental or pupil assent
1722 absent from school on day of survey

v

v

v

v

40 schools allocated to QPR

(2692 pupils)

45 schools allocated to YAM
(2721 pupils)

43 schools allocated to ProfScreen

(2764 pupils)

40 schools allocated to control

(2933 pupils)

221 pupils excluded* 199 pupils excluded* 306 pupils excluded* 231 pupils excluded*
P 146 for baseline Sl or SA P 175 for baseline Sl or SA —P 165 for baseline Sl or SA —» 150 for baseline Sl or SA
75 for missing data 24 for missing data 141 for missing data 81 for missing data
12 pupils excluded for missing SA 11 pupils excluded for missing SA 7 pupils excluded for missing SA 4 pupils excluded for missing SA
data at 3 monthst data at 3 monthst data at 3 monthst data at 3 monthst
™ 11 pupils excluded for missing SI ] 5 pupils excluded for missing SI —> 7 pupils excluded for missing SI ™ 5 pupils excluded for missing S|
data at 3 monthst data at 3 monthst data at 3 monthst data at 3 monthst
250 pupils lost to 3 monthsi 345 pupils lost to 3 monthst 248 pupils lost to 3 monthsi 332 pupils lost to 3 monthsi
] follow-up (absent from school > follow-up (absent from school > follow-up (absent from school > follow-up (absent from school
on day of survey) onday of survey)f on day of survey) onday of survey)f
v v v v

2209 pupils included in analysis of

suicide attempts at 3 months

2210 pupils included in analysis of

suicidal ideation at 3 months

2166 pupils included in analysis of

suicide attempts at 3 months

2172 pupils included in analysis of

suicidal ideation at 3 months

2203 pupils included in analysis of

suicide attempts at 3 months

2203 pupils included in analysis of

suicidal ideation at 3 months

2366 pupils included in analysis of

2365 pupils included in analysis of

suicide attempts at 3 months

suicidal ideation at 3 months

N 8 pupils excluded for missing SA N 16 pupils excluded for missing SA N 8 pupils excluded for missing SA N 17 pupils excluded for missing SA

data at 12 monthst data at 12 monthst data at 12 monthst data at 12 monthst
9 pupils excluded for missing SI 12 pupils excluded for missing SI 7 pupils excluded for missing SI 12 pupils excluded for missing S|
dataat 12 monthst dataat 12 monthst data at 12 monthst data at 12 monthst
485 pupils lost to 12 months 519 pupils lost to 12 months 489 pupils lost to 12 months 429 pupils lost to 12 months

] follow-up (absent from > follow-up (absent from > follow-up (absent from > follow-up (absent from

school on day of survey)§ school on day of survey)$§ school on day of survey)#§ school on day of survey)§
v v v A4

1978 pupils included in analysis of

suicide attempts at 12 months

1977 pupils included in analysis of

suicidal ideation at 12 months

1987 pupils included in analysis of

suicide attempts at 12 months

1991 pupils included in analysis of

suicidal ideation at 12 months

1961 pupils included in analysis of

suicide attempts at 12 months

1962 pupils included in analysis of

suicidal ideation at 12 months

2256 pupils included in analysis of

2261 pupils included in analysis of

suicide attempts at 12 months

suicidal ideation at 12 months

Figure: Study profile
QPR=Question, Persuade, and Refer. YAM=Youth Aware of Mental Health Programme. ProfScreen=screening by professionals. Si=suicidal ideation. SA=suicide attempt. *Pupils who had ever
attempted suicide or who reported severe suicidal ideation in the 2 weeks before baseline or who had missing data for the respective variable at baseline were excluded from analysis. tPupils were
excluded only in the analysis for the corresponding outcome. $Does not include lost-to-follow-up with other exclusion criteria. SLost to follow-up between baseline and 12 months.

Statistical analysis

We established the sample size by incorporating a
cluster-randomised design with assumptions about
potential participants, based on previous school-based
studies of suicidal behaviour such as that the intraclass
correlation of outcomes within schools would be 0-01 or
smaller and that the incident rate of the primar
"Pac

www.thelancet.com Vol 385 April 18, 2015

outcome, suicide attempt at 12 months, would be 3% or

more in the control group. About 2500 pupils from
40 schools in each of the four groups (ie, 160 schools
and 10000 pupils), were judged to be a group of
sufficient size to detect a 50% reduction in incidence of
suicide attempt in any of the intervention groups,

compared with the control group, with a power of 80%
KPRGe 18

1539




Articles

3 month follow-up

12 month follow-up

n Cases (%) OR(95%Cl) pvalue n Cases (%) OR(95%Cl) pvalue
Question, 2209 15 0-62 0-147 1978 22 0-70 0-229
persuade, and refer (0-68%)  (0-32-1-18) (111%)  (0.39-1.25)
Youth aware of 2166 19 0-78 0-422 1987 14 0-45* 0-014*
mental health (0-88%)  (0-42-1-44) (0-70%)  (0-24-0-85)
programme
Screening by 2203 27 1-10 0752 1961 20 0-65 0-158
professionals (1-23%)  (0-61-1-97) (1-:02%)  (0-36-1-18)
Controls 2366 27 Reference 2256 34 Reference

(1-14%) (1-51%)

ORs and 95% Cls were generated from generalised linear mixed models with a logistic link, adjusted for age, sex,
Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire total score, not being born in the country of residence, parental job loss in the
previous year, not living with both biological parents, and country of residence. Missing covariates were included
through use of multiple imputation. OR=o0dds ratio.*Significant at p<0-05.

Table 2: Incident suicide attempts at 3 and 12 month follow-up

1540

with a two-sided significance level of 0-05. The risk of
severe suicidal ideation was assumed to be higher and
thus this sample size would yield greater power to detect
group differences. Despite the overall large sample size,
because the risk of the primary outcome being
investigated was expected to be very low, significance
could only be achieved with adequate power if the
intervention effects were very large (ie, about a two-fold
decrease or more). Means and proportions of individual
characteristics (age, sex, not being born in their country
of residence, parental job loss in the previous year, not
living with both biological parents, country of residence,
and SDQ total score) and baseline reports of suicide
attempts or severe suicidal ideation were calculated for
each intervention group and tested with a model
controlled for clustering of pupils within schools. To
investigate the preventive effects of the interventions at
3 months and 12 months, all subsequent analyses of
pupils with available questionnaire data at that
timepoint excluding those who reported a lifetime
suicide attempt at baseline or who reported severe
suicidal ideation within the past 2 weeks at baseline.
Raw counts and proportions of each outcome (suicide
attempts and severe suicidal ideation) were tabulated
within each intervention group at 3 months and
12 months. The intraclass correlation was calculated for
each outcome to quantify variability across schools.
Assessment of whether differential dropout (ie, missing
both 3 month and 12 month outcomes) across
intervention groups was dependent on outcomes was
examined with logistic regression of dropout status and
testing of an interaction between group and baseline
attempt or ideation.

Generalised linear mixed models (GLMM)* with a
logistic link, a random effect to account for clustering of
pupils within schools, and a nested random effect to
account for repeated (3 months and 12 months)
measures within pupils, were used to test for intervention
group differences. The GLMMs for each outcome
incl fixed effects for intervention gr tegqrical

cluded fixed effects for interventio g(ﬁ}a(c:akezigracag

month, a group-by-month interaction, and controlled for
individual characteristics. On the basis of the GLMMs,
the adjusted odds ratios (OR) and 95% CIs for each of
the three experimental intervention groups compared
with the control group at 3 and 12 months, were used to
test significance. Intervention groups were compared
with the control group only; no mutual comparisons
were made. The associated absolute risk difference and
number needed to prevent were also calculated based on
the adjusted risk of each outcome by intervention group
estimated from the GLMM. A multiple imputation
procedure® (50 imputations with full conditional
specification for dichotomous variables)* was used to
manage missing values of individual characteristics
(<1% missing for each individual characteristic), so that
all pupils with an outcome at 3 months or 12 months
were included in the GLMMs. Additional models,
including sex-by-intervention group interactions, and
age-by-intervention group interactions were tested for
differential intervention effects by sex and age. To assess
the robustness of the findings, tests for intervention
group differences were redone including only the subset
of pupils with complete outcome data at both 3 months
and 12 months. All analyses were done with SAS
version 9.3. The trial is registered at the German Clinical
Trials Registry, number DRKS00000214.

Role of the funding source

The funder of the study had no role in study design, data
collection, data analysis, data interpretation, or writing of
the report. The corresponding author (DW) had full
access to all the data in the study and had final
responsibility for the decision to submit for publication.

Results

Of 232 schools that were approached and randomly
assigned to one of four study groups, 168 schools (72%)
accepted to participate. 27099 pupils were approached:
14267 were not enrolled because parental consent or
pupils’ assent were not given, and 1722 pupils were absent
from school on the day of baseline assessment. We
recruited 11110 pupils (median age 15 years [IQR 14-15],
mean age 14-8 years [SD 0-8]; 59% girls). Of the 11110
pupils with baseline assessment, 9798 (88%) were
available at 3 months and 8972 (81%) at 12 months (figure),
with only 622 (5-6%) pupils not participating at either
follow-up. Our recruitment procedures generated about
an equal number of pupils in each group (figure):
2692 pupils were assigned to QPR; 2721 were assigned to
the YAM; 2764 were assigned to ProfScreen, and 2933 were
assigned to the control group. 221 pupils in the QPR
group, 199 in YAM, 306 in the ProfScreen group, and
231 in the control group were excluded from the analysis
because they reported a previous suicide attempt or severe
suicidal ideation in the 2 weeks before baseline, or were
missing data for the respective variables (figure, table 1).
lil-,léﬂs referred at baseline for psychiatric treatment and

www.thelancet.com Vol 385 April 18, 2015



Articles

thus excluded from analysis were 23 (0-8%) in the QPR
group, 22 (0-8%) in the YAM group, 28 (1-0%) in the
ProfScreen group, and 24 (0-8%) in the control group.
There was no significant interaction between any
intervention group and baseline suicide attempt (p=0-533)
or severe suicidal ideation (p=0-456) for dropout status.
Table 1 shows baseline characteristics of the sample for
each intervention group. Differences in mean SDQ total
score between groups were less than 1 point and are not
considered clinically significant, because the scale ranges
from 0 to 40 points and has a borderline region of 3 points.*
At 3 months, of 9724 pupils who answered both
outcome questions, 333 (3-4%) reported either an attempt
or ideation and 85 (0-9%) reported both. At 12 months, of
8885 pupils who answered both questions, 261 (2-9%)
reported either and 55 (0-6%) reported both. Intraclass
correlations across schools at 12 months were 0-003 for
suicide attempt and 0- 007 for severe suicidal ideation.
Analyses of the interaction between intervention
groups and time (3 months and 12 months) showed no
significant effect on incident suicide attempts in the
three intervention groups, compared with the control
group at the 3 month follow-up. However, at the 12 month
follow-up, we noted a significant effect (OR 0-45, 95%CI
0-24-0-85; p=0-014) of the YAM on incident suicide
attempts, compared with the control group (table 2).
After analyses of the interaction between intervention
groups and time (3 months and 12 months), we noted
the following results for severe suicidal ideation: at the
3 month follow-up, there were no significant effects of
QPR, YAM, or ProfScreen compared with the control
group. However, at the 12 month follow-up, we noted a
significant effect of the YAM (OR 0-50, 0-27-0-92;
p=0-025), compared with the control group (table 3).
Neither sex nor age significantly modified the
intervention effect for either outcome (interaction
p=0-2658 for sex and 0-8933 for age for suicide
attempts, and 0-1315 for sex and 0-9324 for age for
severe suicidal ideation). YAM showed stronger effects
for incident suicide attempts (OR 0-36, 95% 0-18-0-72;
p=0-004) and severe suicidal ideation (0-46, 0-24-0-88;
p=0-018) when the analysed sample included pupils
who participated in all waves of data collection (n=8282).
Overall, in terms of suicide attempts, at 12 months in
the YAM group absolute risk fell by 0-60 % (ie, 6-0 of
1000 pupils) and relative risk (RR) was reduced by
54-6% (ie, of 1000 pupils, 11 attempted suicide in the
control group vs five attempts in YAM). Therefore, the
number needed to have an intervention with YAM to
prevent one suicide attempt per year was 167 In terms
of severe suicidal ideation, in the YAM group absolute
risk fell by 0-50% and RR fell by 49-6%. The number
needed to have an intervention with YAM to prevent one
case of severe suicidal ideation per year was 200.
Site leaders in each country had contact with SEYLE
school principals throughout the whole investigation
period and were instructed to obtain information a‘r_.gut

www.thelancet.com Vol 385 April 18, 2015

3 month follow-up

12 month follow-up

use of multiple imputation. OR=odds ratio. *Significant at p<0-05.

n Cases (%) OR(95%Cl) pvalue n Cases (%) OR(95%Cl) pvalue
Question, 2210 25 0-69 0-182 1977 29 0-95 0-856
persuade, and refer (113%)  (0-40-1-19) (1-47%) (0-55-1-63)
Youth aware of 2172 32 0-88 0-629 1991 15 0-50* 0-025*
mental health (1-47%)  (0-52-1-48) (075%)  (0-27-0-92)
programme
Screening by 2203 27 0-72 0-229 1962 22 0-71 0-234
professionals (1-23%)  (0-42-1-23) (1-12%) (0-40-1-25)
Controls 2365 35 Reference 2261 31 Reference

(1-48%) (1:37%)

ORs and 95% Cl were generated from generalised linear mixed models with a logistic link, adjusted for age, sex, baseline
Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire total score, not being born in the country of residence, parental job loss in the
previous year, not living with both biological parents, and country of residence. Missing covariates were included through

Table 3: Incident severe suicidal ideation at 3 and 12 month follow-up

any completed suicides. No completed suicides were
reported for any study participants.

Discussion

This study represents the first European, multicountry,
randomised controlled trial of the prevention of suicidal
behaviour in adolescents (panel). The results show that
the YAM, a universal, school-based intervention of short
duration (5 h in 4 weeks),” was significantly more
effective in preventing new cases of suicide attempts and
severe suicidal ideation, including planning, than no
intervention (the control group). The reported reduction
in incident suicide attempts was more than 50% with
YAM than for the control group. This effect is higher
than those noted in other successful public health
interventions—eg, for bullying and bully victimisation
(17-23%),” or specific types of school-based interventions
addressing smoking cessation (14%).”

So far, trials of only two other interventions undertaken
in the USA have shown a significant decrease in suicide
attempts. Results from a classroom-based intervention,
Signs of Suicide (SOS), with 2100 pupils in five North
American high schools, showed a reduced risk of suicide
attempts at a 3 month follow-up, although there were no
differences in suicidal ideation.” Similar results were
reported on the basis of an extension of this programme
undertaken with 4133 pupils in nine US high schools, for
which again, the incidence of suicide attempts at a
3 month follow-up was significantly lower, but no
improvement in suicidal ideation compared with controls
was noted.” Neither study, however, followed up beyond
3 months. Only one other trial, a classroom-based
behavioural intervention called the Good Behaviour
Game with two cohorts of about 1000 and 2000 North
American first-grade pupils, showed a reduced incidence
of suicidal ideation and suicide attempts when followed
up at ages 21-22 years.”

In SEYLE, the YAM not only prevented suicide attempts,

im orta]ﬁ 6redictor of completed suicides,®® but it

ack Page

1541




Articles

1542

Panel: Research in context

Systematic review

We searched PubMed, PsycINFO, Cochrane Library, and Google
Scholar with no date restrictions for English-language, peer-
reviewed articles of the outcomes of school-based suicide
preventive interventions in April, 2014. The search terms

”on n o

included “suicide”, "attempted suicide”, “prevention”,

mou " ou

“intervention”, “adolescent”, “school”, “gatekeeper”,
“screening”, "mental health promotion”, “mental health
education”, and “randomised controlled trial”. References
included in searched articles were also screened for relevant
publications. The articles identified by the searches were read by
two researchers. Articles that reported randomised controlled
trials of suicide preventive interventions undertaken in a school
setting, with suicide attempt or suicidal ideation as outcome
measures, and systematic reviews, were analysed. Three trials
undertaken in a school setting in the USA were identified. They
showed significant reductions in suicide attempts, and one of
them also in suicidal ideation. Systematic reviews underlined
the need for more randomised controlled trials.

Interpretation

Suicide attempt and suicidal behaviours in adolescents are
known predictors of mental health problems and future
suicidal behaviours throughout their lifecourse, which calls
for early preventive measures. The results of our SEYLE trial in
ten European Union countries with 11110 school-based
adolescents show that the Youth Aware of Mental Health
Programme (YAM) is effective in significantly reducing
incident severe suicidal ideation and suicide attempts, which
are the negative results of adverse life events, stress, and
mental health problems. This is the first multicentre,
European study of a large sample of adolescents, and is a step
forward in view of the shortage of studies of the effectiveness
of school-based suicide prevention programmes. The SEYLE
results provide evidence for the effectiveness of a universal
suicide prevention programme (YAM) and, in addition to
previous studies, the validity of a universal approach to
adolescent suicide-prevention in a school setting.

also reduced new cases of severe suicidal ideation,
including suicide planning—all important markers of
poor psychological wellbeing. The design of the YAM,
aimed at changing pupils' negative perceptions and
improving their coping skills in the management of
adverse life events and stressors, which often are triggers
of suicidal behaviour, could account for its significant
effects. The YAM, through active participation might also
have provided the pupils, most probably for the first time,
with an opportunity to think, verbalise, and discuss among
themselves a range of issues related to mental health.
Such opportunities are especially important, because
people showing suicidal behaviour tend to suppress their
emotions and have difficulties in identifying their
feelings.” These potentially sustained interactive processes

and integration of new knowledge” nee(i:)time atB the
ack Page

associated cognitive processes were further helped by the
adolescents becoming 1 year older and thus more mature
at the 12 month follow-up. Additionally, effects of the YAM
could not have been detected before the 12 month follow-
up because no additional intermediate measurements
between 3 months and 12 months were available.

The QPR and ProfScreen interventions did not have
significant effects. Changes in suicidal behaviour are
perhaps more likely to occur if pupils are personally
engaged in the intervention, than with adult-driven
interventions, which adolescents might be reluctant to
accept. Importantly, QPR is designed to empower
teachers to recognise pupils at risk of suicide. However,
previous SEYLE findings have shown that teachers’
readiness to help pupils with mental health disorders is
dependent on the teachers’ subjective psychological
wellbeing, which could possibly affect the effectiveness
of the QPR interventions in this study.” Moreover, for
QPR, teachers need to be able to identify signs of
suicide risk; but because suicidality is mainly an
internal process, many warning signs might be scarcely
visible or very well hidden in adolescents, even if
teachers are well trained to recognise them. ProfScreen
had the objective of identifying pupils at risk of mental
health problems, and early detection and treatment of
adolescents with psychopathology. This is an important
approach to diminishing the burden of mental
disorders in adulthood.® However, as previous
investigations have shown, the acceptability of
screening is difficult and this intervention approach
would most probably benefit from concurrent activities
designed to reduce the stigma of mental health issues
among pupils and parents, and thus to help society to
be more open about mental health problems.**

Limitations of this study include reliance on self-report,
as with other, similar studies.”** However, we regard it
as unlikely that training in mental health awareness, as
was done in the YAM, would negatively affect self-report
of suicide attempts and severe suicidal ideation. Rather,
with deeper knowledge and language skills reporting is
more likely to increase and therefore diminish the
significance of the results found in this study. For ethical
reasons the control group was exposed to the same
mental-health information as the YAM group, displayed
on posters in the classrooms. Therefore, we assume that
the effect sizes for the YAM are probably underestimated.
A reported difference at baseline between groups for
SDQ Total Score is less than one point and therefore not
clinically significant.”

The strengths of SEYLE, in addition to being a
randomised controlled trial, include having the largest
number of adolescent participants of any school-based
suicide preventive study up to now, good follow-up
participation rates, and the inclusion of new suicide
attempts and severe suicidal ideation as outcome measures.

This study provides much-needed empirical evidence of
t&eleffectiveness of a universal school-based public health

www.thelancet.com Vol 385 April 18, 2015



Articles

intervention by showing that the YAM can prevent suicide
attempts and severe suicidal ideation, including the
planning of suicide, in adolescents. According to these
data, YAM can prevent one suicide attempt by targeting
167 pupils. These findings are important in view of
research showing that young people who attempt suicide
are more likely to have persistent mental health disorders
in adulthood® and complete suicide, than those who do
not attempt suicide in childhood.® The results underline
the necessity for action*? regarding large-scale imple-
mentation of universal, school-based suicide prevention
programmes. Further studies are needed to replicate these
results, and to assess the cost-effectiveness of the YAM
intervention, and the potential added benefit of booster
activities and combinations of different kinds of
interventions. Further research is also needed to study the
effect of a largerscale implementation of the YAM
intervention, including alternative methods of delivery.*

Contributors

DW led the development of the study design and methodology, and
supervised all phases of the study and analyses. DW and VC wrote
several sections of the manuscript and critically revised the final
version of the manuscript. VC advised on research methodology, and
supervised the quality control of data collection and data analyses.
CWH advised on research methodology and provided consultation for
epidemiological issues. CW participated in the design of the study and
advised on implementation of the methods for the RCT interventions.
MW was responsible for the statistical analyses and wrote the sections
of the manuscript about data analysis. RE did the statistical analyses
and designed the tables. GH performed quality control of the statistical
analyses. IK participated in conducting exploratory statistical analyses
and critically revised the manuscript. MS participated in the study
design. PV performed quality control and management of the SEYLE
databases. GM participated in the randomisation process and along
with AA, in the quality control of the implementation of RCT
interventions. FG provided input to the statistical analysis. SR-T
provided ethical consultation for the ongoing interventions. All authors
critically revised and approved the manuscript before submission.

Declaration of interests
We declare no competing interests.

Acknowledgments

The SEYLE project was supported through Coordination Theme 1
(Health) of the European Union Seventh Framework Programme (FP7),
Grant agreement number HEALTH-F2-2009-223091. The Project Leader
and Coordinator of the SEYLE project is DW (Karolinska Institutet). The
project manager is VC. Other members of the Executive Committee

are MS, CWH, and CW.

References

1 Nock MK, Borges G, Bromet EJ, Cha CB, Kessler RC, Lee S. Suicide
and suicidal behavior. Epidemiol Rev 2008; 30: 133-54.

2 Wasserman D, Cheng Q, Jiang GX. Global suicide rates among
young people aged 15-19. World Psychiatry 2005; 4: 114-20.

3 Patton GC, Coffey C, Sawyer SM, et al. Global patterns of mortality
in young people: a systematic analysis of population health data.
Lancet 2009; 374: 881-92.

4 WHO. Preventing suicide: a global imperative. Geneva: World
Health Organization, 2014. http://www.who.int/mental_health/
suicide-prevention/world_report_2014/en/ (accessed Nov 24, 2014).

5  Nock MK, Green JG, Hwang I, et al. Prevalence, correlates, and
treatment of lifetime suicidal behavior among adolescents: results
from the National Comorbidity Survey Replication Adolescent
Supplement. JAMA Psychiatry 2013; 70: 300-10.

6  Carli V, Hoven CW, Wasserman C, et al. A newly identified group of
adolescents at “invisible” risk for psychopathology and suicidal
behavior: findings from the SEYLE study. World Psychiatry 2014;

13: 78-86.

www.thelancet.com Vol 385 April 18, 2015

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

28

Bergen H, Hawton K, Waters K, et al. Premature death after
self-harm: a multicentre cohort study. Lancet 2012; 380: 1568-74.
Borges G, Nock MK, Haro Abad JM, et al. Twelve-month prevalence
of and risk factors for suicide attempts in the World Health
Organization World Mental Health Surveys. J Clin Psychiatry 2010;
71: 1617-28.

Andriessen K, Krysinska K. Essential questions on suicide
bereavement and postvention. Int | Environ Res Public Health
2012; 9: 24-32.

Zechmeister I, Kilian R, McDaid D. Is it worth investing in mental
health promotion and prevention of mental illness? A systematic
review of the evidence from economic evaluations.

BMC Public Health 2008; 8: 20.

Fleischmann A, Bertolote JM, Wasserman D, et al. Effectiveness of
brief intervention and contact for suicide attempters: a randomized
controlled trial in five countries. Bull World Health Organ 2008;

86: 703-09.

Mann ], Apter A, Bertolote ], et al. Suicide prevention strategies:

a systematic review. JAMA 2005; 294: 2064-74.

Wasserman D, Rihmer Z, Rujescu D, et al. The European
Psychiatric Association (EPA) guidance on suicide treatment and
prevention. Eur Psychiatry 2012; 27: 129-41.

Patton GC, Coffey C, Cappa C, et al. Health of the world’s
adolescents: a synthesis of internationally comparable data. Lancet
2012; 379: 1665-75.

Eyre O, Thapar A. Common adolescent mental disorders: transition
to adulthood. Lancet 2014; 383: 1366—68.

Kessler RC, Berglund P, Demler O, Jin R, Merikangas KR,

Walters EE. Lifetime prevalence and age-of-onset distributions of
DSM-IV disorders in the National Comorbidity Survey Replication.
Arch Gen Psychiatry 2005; 62: 593—-602.

Langford R, Bonell CP, Jones HE, et al. The WHO Health
Promoting School framework for improving the health and
well-being of students and their academic achievement.

Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2014; 4: CD008958.

De Silva S, Parker A, Purcell R, Callahan P, Liu P, Hetrick S. Mapping
the evidence of prevention and intervention studies for suicidal and
self-harming behaviors in young people. Crisis 2013; 34: 223-32.
Katz C, Bolton SL, Katz LY, Isaak C, Tilston-Jones T, Sareen J. A
systematic review of school-based suicide prevention programs.
Depress Anxiety 2013; 30: 1030—45.

Mrazek PJ, Haggerty R]. Reducing risks for mental disorders:
frontiers for preventive intervention research. Washington, DC:
National academy Press, 1994.

Wasserman D, Durkee T. Strategies in suicide prevention. In:
Wasserman D, Wasserman C, eds. Oxford textbook of suicidology
and suicide prevention: a global perspective. Oxford: Oxford
University Press, 2009: 381-84.

Hoven CW, Wasserman D, Wasserman C, Mandell D]. Awareness
in nine countries: a public health approach to suicide prevention.
Leg Med (Tokyo) 2009; 11 (suppl 1): S13-17.

Aseltine RHJ, DeMartino R. An outcome evaluation of the SOS
suicide prevention program. Am J Public Health 2004; 94: 446-51.
Aseltine RHJ, James A, Schilling EA, Glanovsky J. Evaluating the
SOS suicide prevention program: a replication and extension.
BMC Public Health 2007; 7: 161.

Hooven C, Herting JR, Snedker KA. Long-term outcomes for the
promoting CARE suicide prevention program. Am | Health Behav
2010; 34: 721-36.

Wilcox HC, Kellam SG, Brown CH, et al. The impact of two universal
randomized first- and second-grade classroom interventions on young
adult suicide ideation and attempts. Drug Alcohol Depend 2008;

95 (suppl 1): S60-73.

Wasserman D, Carli V, Wasserman C, et al. Saving and empowering
young lives in Europe (SEYLE): a randomized controlled trial.
BMC Public Health 2010; 10: 192.

Tompkins TL, Witt ], Abraibesh N. Does a gatekeeper suicide
prevention program work in a school setting? Evaluating training
outcome and moderators of effectiveness. Suicide Life Threat Behav
2010; 40: 506-15.

Wasserman C, Hoven CW, Wasserman D, et al. Suicide prevention
for youth—a mental health awareness program: lessons learned
from the Saving and Empowering Young Lives in Europe (SEYLE)
intervention study. BMC Public Health 2012; 12: 776.

Pack Page 2



Articles

1544

30

31

32

33

34

35

36

37

38

39

Kaess M, Brunner R, Parzer P, et al. Risk-behaviour screening for
identifying adolescents with mental health problems in Europe.
Eur Child Adolesc Psychiatry 2014; 23: 611-20.

Paykel ES, Myers JK, Lindenthal JJ, Tanner J. Suicidal feelings in
the general population: a prevalence study. Br J Psychiatry 1974;

124: 460-69.

Goodman R. The strengths and difficulties questionnaire:

a research note. | Child Psychol Psychiatry 1997; 38: 581-86.
Goodman R, Ford T, Simmons H, Gatward R, Meltzer H. Using the
strengths and difficulties questionnaire (SDQ) to screen for child
psychiatric disorders in a community sample. Br ] Psychiatry 2000;
177: 534-39.

Diggle P, Heagerty P, Liang KY, Zeger S. Analysis of longitudinal
data. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2002.

Little RJA, Rubin DB. Statistical analysis with missing data. New York:
Wiley Wiley-Interscience, 2002.

Yuan Y. Multiple imputation using SAS software. J Stat Software 2011;
45:1-25.

Ttofi MM, Farrington DP. Effectiveness of school-based programs
to reduce bullying: A systematic and meta-analytic review.

J Exp Criminol 2011; 7: 27-56.

Isensee B, Hanewinkel R. Meta-analysis on the effects of the
smoke-free class competition on smoking prevention in
adolescents. Eur Addict Res 2012; 18: 110-15.

Tidemalm D, Langstrom N, Lichtenstein P, Runeson B. Risk of suicide
after suicide attempt according to coexisting psychiatric disorder:
Swedish cohort study with long term follow-up. BMJ 2008; 337: a2205.

41

42

43

45

47

Hawton K, Arensman E, Wasserman D, et al. Relation between
attempted suicide and suicide rates among young people in Europe.
J Epidemiol Community Health 1998; 52: 191-94.

Pisani AR, Wyman PA, Petrova M, et al. Emotion regulation
difficulties, youth-adult relationships, and suicide attempts among
high school students in underserved communities. J Youth Adolesc
2013; 42: 807-20.

Sisask M, Virnik P, Virnik A, et al. Teacher satisfaction with school
and psychological well-being affects their readiness to help children
with mental health problems. Health Educ ] 2013; 73: 382-93.
Patton GC, Coffey C, Romaniuk H, et al. The prognosis of common
mental disorders in adolescents: a 14-year prospective cohort study.
Lancet 2014; 383: 1404-11.

Gould MS, Marrocco FA, Hoagwood K, Kleinman M, Amakawa L,
Altschuler E. Service use by at-risk youths after school-based suicide
screening. | Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry 2009; 48: 1193-01.
Goldman-Mellor SJ, Caspi A, Harrington H, et al. Suicide attempt
in young people: a signal for long-term health care and social needs.
JAMA 2014; 71: 119-27.

Suicide watch. Nature 2014; 506: 131.

Patel V, Saxena S. Transforming lives, enhancing communities—
innovations in global mental health. N Engl ] Med 2014;

370: 498-501.

Mental health and wellbeing in children and adolescents. Lancet
2014; 383: 1183.

Pack Page 23

www.thelancet.com Vol 385 April 18, 2015



CYPE(5)-03-18 - Paper to note 3

Additional information from the Samaritans following the meeting on 10
January -they agreed to share the following report:

World Health Organisation_report (Growing up unequal: gender and
socioeconomic differences in young people's health and well-being. Health
Behaviour in School-aged Children (HBSC) Study: International Report from
the 2013/14 Survey (WHQO))

Pack Page 24


https://issuu.com/whoeurope/docs/hsbc-no7-growing-up-unequal-full-re

CYPE(5)-03-18 - Paper to note 4

Agenda ltem 3.3

Cynulliad Cenedlaethol Cymru
Y Pwyllgor Plant, Pobl Ifanc ac Addysg

National Assembly for Wales
Children, Young People and Education Committee

Eluned Morgan AM
Minister for Welsh Language and Lifelong Learning

18 January 2018
Dear Eluned

What type of youth service does Wales want? Committee Follow up into its Youth Work
Inquiry

| am writing to keep you informed of the proposed approach that the Children, Young
People and Education Committee (the Committee) will be taking in following up on its
inquiry into Youth Work. It was good to meet with you in November, and have some early
dialogue with you regarding this.

The Committee is grateful to the previous Minister for Lifelong Learning and Welsh
Language for providing a six month update on progress against the Committee’s
recommendations. However, the Committee is committed to undertaking on-going
scrutiny of this inquiry, to help ensure that work is undertaken against all of the

recommendations made in its report.

The Committee is also keen to establish whether work undertaken since publication of
our report has made, or is making, a difference to those involved with delivering youth
work/youth services on the ground. With that in mind, the Committee will be launching a
targeted consultation in the coming weeks, seeking feedback from key stakeholders on
the Committee’s recommendations and how these are being taken forward.

However, in advance of the consultation, the Committee would welcome a further update
from Welsh Government on progress made against the Committee’s recommendations. A
full list of the recommendations, together with the relevant information provided by
Welsh Government to date, is at Annex 1. It would be very much appreciated if you could
provide an update on the recommendations where appropriate, but in particular on:

e ‘Extending Entitlement’ and the National Youth Work Strategy, and establishing the
National Youth Support Service Board;

Cynulliad Cenedlaethol Cymru National Assembly for Wales
Bae Caerdydd, Caerdydd, CF99 1NA Cardiff Bay, Cardiff, CF99 TNA
7‘ SeneddPPlA@cynulliad.cymru S ed@nli_f) assezz wales

www.cynulliad.cymru/SeneddPPIA wi%@a bl%ga% eddCYPE
0300 200 6565 0300 200 6565




e Youth work sufficiency assessments;
e The development of an accountability framework for local authorities’ use of funds
for youth work via the revenue support grant;

e Securing access to Erasmus+.

The Committee will use your update on the points above to help inform its consultation
with stakeholders, so we would be grateful if you could provide this information by
February half term.

Yours sincerely,
L_'__‘_'_ RO A

Lynne Neagle AC / AM
Cadeirydd / Chair

Pack Page 26




Annex 1

CYPE Committee
Recommendation

WG Response

Recommendation 1. The Minister
should review the National
Strategy and refresh the
statutory guidance in
consultation with stakeholders
and young people. A detailed
action plan for implementation,
including timescales, must be
developed alongside a new
strategy.

Accepted

| have already committed to refresh Extending Entitlement - the
statutory guidance which underpins the provision and delivery of
youth support services in Wales. Reviewing the National Youth Work
Strategy will, by necessity, need to form part of this work. A detailed
action plan for implementation will be developed and published by the
end of March 2017.

Recommendation 2. The Minister
should hold urgent discussions
with the Ministerial Youth Work
Reference Group to address the
concerns from within the sector
about a lack of engagement from
Welsh Government.

Accepted

| met with the Youth Work Reference Group on 8 December 2016. |
have asked the group to work with my officials on the refresh of
Extending Entitlement. My officials will maintain regular engagement
with the group and the wider sector as we develop our thinking
around future plans for youth work delivery in Wales.

When considering the Committee’s report and recommendations, my
officials engaged with the reference group to ensure their views were
taken into account.

Recommendation 3. There
should be a clear and meaningful
route for young people to be
equal partners in developing
youth services in Wales. This
should be developed by the
Minister, stakeholders and young
people.

Accepted

The Welsh Government remains committed to enabling the voice of
young people to be heard in decisions which affect them. We will
continue to engage with young people and utilise the expertise of
stakeholders including Children in Wales and Young Wales to engage
with a broad range of young people around developing youth services
in Wales.

Recommendation 4. The Minister
should introduce a national
model for youth work,
encompassing statutory and
voluntary provision. The Minister
should report to this Committee
on progress within 6 months of
the publication of this report.

Accepted

Any consideration of a national model for youth work needs to be
informed by the refresh of Extending Entitlement and the review of
the National Youth Work Strategy. | am happy to report back to the
Committee as this work progresses.

6 Month update (21.6.17):

Any consideration of a national model for youth work needs to be
informed by the review of Extending Entitlement and the review of the
National Youth Work Strategy.

The formal consultation for Extending Entitlement will take place in

Pack Page 27




the autumn. Feedback from this consultation will inform the new
Extending Entitlement direction and guidance which will be formally
launched summer 2018.

A review of the existing National Youth Work Strategy is currently
being carried out by Glyndwr University, this review will inform the
Extending Entitlement consultation paper. A formal consultation
process for a new National Youth Work Strategy will be carried out
following the publication of Extending Entitlement. The Youth Work
Reference Group will play a key role in the development of a new
youth work strategy.

We have begun the process to establish an independently chaired,
National Youth Support Service Board. The Board will be able to
provide constructive challenge and scrutiny of the Welsh
Government’s policies and proposals for Youth Support Services,
including youth work. The Chair and Board members will be subject to
the Public Appointment process. | expect the Chair to be in place by
the autumn. The Chair will then support me to appoint all other board
members, who we will have in place by spring 2018.

Recommendation 5. The Minister
should report back to the
Committee within 6 months of
the publication of this report on
how he intends to assess the
extent to which his commitment
to universal, open access
provision, in English and Welsh,
is being delivered.

Accepted in Principle

It is clear from the evidence provided to the Committee that the youth
work landscape in Wales is changing. Local authorities have had to
adapt to a challenging financial climate and the changing needs of
young people in their area. This has often meant adopting different
approaches to engaging with young people that go beyond traditional
youth work provision. In order to get a better understanding of the
situation | have asked my officials to work with key representatives
from the sector to explore if sufficiency assessments might be a
suitable vehicle to assist local authorities to assess the needs of their
local populations. Sufficiency assessments may be able to provide a
better understanding, at a local level, of what youth work support
looks like on the ground. This is because any sufficiency assessment
undertaken by a local authority would need to take account the
current provision available to young people (both open access and
targeted) which is provided through the statutory and voluntary
sectors. Sufficiency assessments also provide a useful source of
evidence for Public Services Boards to take account of in preparing
their assessments of local well-being. | expect this work to inform the
refresh of Extending Entitlement and any national model of youth
work delivery. | am happy to report back to the Committee as this
work progresses.

6 Month update:
(Recommendations 5, 6 & 7). My officials have begun to explore if
sufficiency assessments might be a suitable vehicle and the best way

Pack Page 28



http://gov.wales/topics/educationandskills/skillsandtraining/youth-work/reference-group/?lang=en
http://gov.wales/topics/educationandskills/skillsandtraining/youth-work/reference-group/?lang=en

forward to assist local authorities in mapping out and developing their
local youth work offer. We plan to include the consideration of
sufficiency assessments within the formal consultation of Extending
Entitlement. This will ensure stakeholders have an opportunity to have
their views heard.

| believe that sufficiency assessments may be able to provide a better
understanding, at a local level, of what youth work provision within
the statutory and voluntary sector looks like on the ground. | do not
believe a national mapping approach is the best way forward. | am
happy to report back to the Committee as this work continues to
progress.

Recommendation 6. Within 6
months of the publication of this
report, the Minister should
commission an exercise to map
voluntary youth work provision
across Wales. The exercise
should be refreshed periodically.

As above.

Recommendation 7. The Minister
should ensure that youth work
sufficiency assessments are
undertaken by local authorities
as part of their population needs
assessments and report back to
the Committee on progress
within 6 months of the
publication of this report.

As above.

Recommendation 8. The Minister
should develop an accountability
framework for local authorities’
use of funds for youth work via
the revenue support grant. The
framework should include
sanctions if outcomes are not
delivered.

Accepted in Principle

The RSG is an un-hypothecated funding stream, and it is therefore a
decision of local authorities as to how this funding is utilised to best
meet local needs and priorities. It is not possible to identify how much
RSG is spent on youth work or to prescribe this amount — the Standard
Spending Assessments are notional amounts that are used for
calculation purposes only and are not targets for spending. However,
historically the Welsh Government has provided direct support to a
number of grant schemes intended to support the outcomes of youth
work. We have begun the process to undertake a review of all these
youth work funding streams to identify the true impact and to support
future thinking for supporting youth work in Wales. | want to ensure
we have better transparency and value for money.

6 month update:

We are currently in the process of externally reviewing our additional
youth work grants, including the National Voluntary Youth
Organisation (NVYO) grant, all evaluations are due to be completed

Pack Page 29




this summer. It will be at this point | will consider our options and then
announce my decision, which will include any changes to the NVYO
grant. | am fully aware of timescales for current NVYO recipients,
including the need to know of any future funding decisions by 31
December.

My officials have recently met with the Principal Youth Officers Group
(PYOG) and the Council for Wales of Voluntary Youth Services
(CWVYS), where they shared information relating to all current reviews
taking place and how they all link. In July | will be meeting
representatives from the Boys and Girls Clubs and Youth Cymru to
hear about the benefits of the NVYO grant and the extra resources
that it has enabled them to bring into in Wales, | will also be meeting
with the PYOG.

I’'m sure you will agree that we are at a crucial point for youth work
where we have the opportunity to take a step back and consider all
our options relating to: funding, statutory guidance, sufficiency, the
role of a new national board, a new youth work strategy and, how we
support the youth work sector to work together. | can assure you that
the Welsh Government is taking a strategic approach.

Recommendation 9. The Minister
should explore the potential
continuation of Erasmus+
funding, should the UK
Government decide not to do so.

Accepted in principle

We have published a White Paper, “Securing Wales’ Future: Transition
from the European Union to a new relationship with Europe”, which
can be found online at: www.gov.wales/brexit.

The White Paper provides a comprehensive and credible plan for the
negotiations with our partners in Europe on the UK’s exit from the
European Union — based on solid evidence that places Wales’ priorities
center stage but which is designed to work for the UK as a whole. It
balances the message which the Welsh people gave us that we should
leave the European Union with the economic reality that makes
participation in the single market so important for the future
prosperity of Wales, and indeed the UK as a whole.

The decision is made that the UK will leave the European Union. The
challenge we all face now is ensuring that we secure the best possible
deal for Wales and the UK.

Recommendation 10. The
Minister should ensure that the
statutory and voluntary youth
work sector play a central role in
the process of curriculum reform.

Accepted

The statutory and voluntary youth work sectors are both represented
on the Education Reform Strategic Stakeholder Group (SSG). The group
was established to ensure that key stakeholders, especially those who
are not represented elsewhere in the governance structure or on
working groups, are:

-informed of and involved in developing the approach to implementing
Successful Futures: Independent Review of Curriculum and Assessment

2

Pack Page 30



http://www.gov.wales/brexit

Arrangements in Wales, and Teaching for Tomorrow’s Teachers:
Options for the future of initial teacher education in Wales

-informed of and involved in developing the approach to implementing
the Additional Learning Needs Transformation Programme (ALN-TP),
and are

-aware of alignment with Professional Learning for the workforce.

Pack Page 31




Ag en d a An nex By virtue of paragraph(s) vi of Standing Order 17.42

Document is Restricted

Pack Page 32



	Agenda
	2 Inquiry into the Emotional and Mental Health of Children and Young People - Evidence session 16
	CYPE(5)-03-18 - Paper 1 - National Youth Advocacy Service Cymru

	3.1 Letter to the Chair from Action for Children - Additional information following the meeting on 14 December
	3.2 Further information from the Samaritans following the meeting on 10 January
	School-based suicide prevention programmes: the SEYLE cluster-randomised, controlled trial
	Introduction
	Methods
	Trial design and participants
	Randomisation and masking
	Procedures
	Outcomes
	Statistical analysis
	Role of the funding source

	Results
	Discussion
	Acknowledgments
	References

	CYPE(5)-03-18 - Paper to note 3 - Report 2

	3.3 Letter to the Minister for Welsh Language and Lifelong Learning - Youth Work follow up
	 Informal Roundtable Event: Inquiry into the Emotional and Mental Health of Children and Young People (invitees only)

